I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Plaintiff Guy Wuthrich requests that this Court accept review of 

the divided Court of Appeals decision designated in Part II of this Petition. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review of the divided opinion by Division II in 

Wuthrich v. King County, et. al. (No. 44019-9-II), March 10,2015. 1 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

ISSUE ONE: Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 

(b )(2) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions of 

both this Court and the Court of Appeals holding that a municipality's 

duty to provide reasonably safe roads extends to hazardous roadside 

conditions? 

ISSUE TWO: Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 

(b )(2) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions of 

both this Court and the Court of Appeals that impose a duty on property 

owners to maintain their premises such that adjacent public roads are not 

rendered unsafe for ordinary travel? 

ISSUE THREE: Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) 

because the Court of Appeals (Division II) decision conflicts with the 

Court of Appeals (Division I) decision in Chen v. City of Seattle, 153 Wn. 

App. 890, 894, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009), review denied, 169 Wn.2d 1003 

(2010), which held that the question of whether roadway conditions are 

1 A copy of the Court of Appeals opinion is attached as Appendix A. 
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reasonably safe depends on the totality of the circumstances existing at a 

particular location? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The collision 

On June 20, 2008, Plaintiff Guy Wuthrich was operating a Harley 

Davidson motorcycle southbound on Avondale Road in King County, 

approaching an intersection at I 59th Street. He was traveling at 35 mph, 

five mph under the speed limit.Z Defendant Christa Gilland, an off-duty 

Kirkland Police Officer,3 approached the intersection traveling in an 

easterly direction on I 59th Street, which is controlled by a stop sign and a 

stop line.4 

Ms. Gilland testified that she stopped at the stop line, looked both 

ways, did not see Mr. Wuthrich's motorcycle approaching, and started her 

left tum onto Avondale Road. 5 This put her directly and suddenly in the 

path of Mr. Wuthrich's southbound motorcycle, causing a collision.6 

Mr. Wuthrich sustained multiple, severe injuries in the collision. 

2 CP 1544 (Wuthrich Dep. at 8). 
3 As a police officer, Ms. Gilland has specialized training regarding driving and applies 
defensive driving principles. CP 1560 (Gilland Dep. at 30-31). 
4 See Appendix B (photograph of the intersection). 
5 CP 1564,1581,1583 (GillandDep. at45-46, 114-116, 122). 
6 CP 1564, 1581, 1583 (Gilland Dep. at 45-46, 114-116, 122). 
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B. Ms. Gilland's ability to see southbound traffic on 
Avondale was impeded by sight obstructions at the 
intersection. 

The stop line at I 59th Street is approximately 15 feet back from the 

extension of the fog line.7 Due to a wall of overgrown blackberry bushes 

along Avondale Road, the available sight distance for a vehicle stopped at 

the stop line was less than a third of the sight distance that Defendant King 

County concedes is required. 8 

King County Detective James Leach took the following recorded 

statement from Ms. Gilland a few hours after the collision: 
I was stopped at the intersection of A von dale and NE 1591

h at the 
stop line looking for traffic. I sat there for quite a while, I waited 
until it was really wide open. And I pulled out to make a left tum 
onto Avondale and when I got probably half way through the lane 
closest to me there was a motorcyclist in front of me and I hit hirn.9 

Ms. Gilland's statement that she stopped at the stop line is 

supported by the testimony of the only witnesses to the collision - Ms. 

Gilland and Mr. Wuthrich - that they did not see each other until an 

instant before the collision. Mr. Wuthrich testified that he was driving 

along and "saw a bumper real close, it was corning fast." 10 Ms. Gilland 

testified that the motorcycle appeared in front of her just as she started her 

left tum onto Avondale. 11 

7 CP 473. 
8 CP 167 (685 feet of sight distance is required for a 40-mph road); CP 461 (there was 
only 191 feet of sight distance for a vehicle stopped at the stop line). 
9 CP 432 (emphasis added). 
1° CP 394; CP 396 (he had less than a second to react after he saw Gilland's car). 
II CP 402. 
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Accident reconstruction expert Paul Olson explained that, for Ms. 

Gilland's vehicle to have been "coming fast," as Mr. Wuthrich testified, 

she had to be far enough back from the intersection (i.e., at the stop line) 

when she began accelerating to pick up speed by the time she entered the 

intersection: 12 

[W]hen a witness tells you first thing I saw was a quick movement 
from something, you know it isn't just sitting there waiting and 
accelerating. It is back a little bit and it is accelerating and it's got 
some speed when it gets here. 

Otherwise, you'd say I see him creeping out because in one 
second, literally, this is all the further that car can go (indicating). 
And in two seconds it might travel five feet total, in the first two 
seconds. So that's not quick. What [Wuthrich] describes is seeing 
the front bumper of a car coming out quickly in front of him. 
What that indicates is that car has to be back - further back - say 
further back than this one here and accelerating before the front 
bumper comes out. 13 

Ms. Gilland testified that the view to her left (north) was 

obstructed by overgrown vegetation (blackberry bushes) and a utility pole. 

She testified that she looked left and saw the blackberry bushes and utility 

pole, but did not see Mr. Wuthrich's motorcycle: 14 

A. I believe that the bushes contributed to me not seeing the 
oncoming motorcyclist. 15 

* * * 

A. . .. I think there are things that contributed to me not seeing 

12 CP 405. 
13 CP 440-441. 
14 CP 423-425, 428; see also CP 403-404, 406. 
15 CP 408. 
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him. 

Q. And what would those be? 

A. I think the ... overgrown bushes that are on the comer. 16 

The wall of blackberries along Avondale Road was described by 

Detective Leach as a sight obstruction for drivers at the intersection: 

On the northwest comer of the intersection there is a large 
brush line that runs from the comer northbound along the west side 
of Avondale Rd NE. This brush line causes somewhat of a site 
[sic] obstruction from vehicles stopped eastbound NE 159 St at the 
stop bar looking north on A von dale Rd NE. 17 

Expert testimony confirmed that the sight distance for drivers in 

the immediate vicinity of the Avondale Road-1591
h Street intersection was 

substandard and inadequate at the time of the collision, and created an 

unsafe condition for drivers. According to transportation engineer Edward 

Stevens, "[t]hese sight obstructions in the northwest quadrant of the 

intersection created an inherently dangerous condition .... " 18 Accident 

reconstruction expert Paul Olson testified that "clearly the sight line for 

drivers pulling up to this intersection was obstructed."19 

16 CP 414 
17 CP 445. A photograph taken by the King County Sheriffs office at the accident scene 
(attached as Appendix C) demonstrates the sight-obstructing wall of overgrown 
vegetation. 
18 CP 1265. 
19 CP 439; see also CP 1501-1502 (Exhibit 9 to the Deposition of Paul H. Olson at 1). 
Exhibit 9 to the Olson Deposition is a letter written by Mr. Olson to Plaintiffs counsel, 
which was referenced during his deposition. The letter sets forth Mr. Olson's opinions 
and analysis in this case. See CP 1513 (Olson Dep. at 38-40). 

5 



V. ARGUMENT 

A. The trial court applied the wrong legal standard, and 
because of this erroneously dismissed Mr. Wuthrich's 
case. 

Whether a municipality owes a duty in a particular situation is a 

question of law. Keller v. City of Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 243, 44 P.3d 

845 (2002). As a matter of law, Defendant King County has a duty to 

exercise ordinary care to keep its public roads in a reasonably safe 

condition for ordinary travel. Owen v. Burlington Northern and Santa Fe 

R.R. Co., 153 Wn.2d 780,786-787, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005). This includes a 

duty to eliminate inherently dangerous or misleading conditions. Owen, 

153 Wn.2d at 788; Chen v. City of Seattle, 153 Wn. App. 890, 894, 223 

P.3d 1230 (2009). Governmental entities are required by law to design 

and maintain roads so that they are reasonably safe for drivers, even if the 

driving is imperfect. Keller, 146 Wn.2d at 245. 

Whether road conditions are reasonably safe for ordinary travel 

depends on the circumstances surrounding a particular roadway, including 

traffic operations. Chen, 153 Wn. App. at 894. It is not necessary to 

prove a violation of a statute or ordinance for a governmental entity to be 

liable for an unsafe road. Chen, 153 Wn. App. at 901 ("In effect, the city 

argues that the scope of its duty to Liu extended only to eliminating actual 

physical defects or to taking action expressly required by a statute, 

ordinance, or regulation. The city is incorrect on both accounts."). 

In granting the County's motion for summary judgment, the trial 

court relied upon language in Ruffv. King County, 125 Wn.2d 697, 887 
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P.2d 886 (1995), that "[a] county has a duty to maintain its roadways in a 

reasonably safe condition for ordinary travel by persons using them in a 

proper manner." See Ruff, 146 Wn.2d at 704 (emphasis added).20 Based 

on this language, the trial court ruled that the County could not be liable 

for an unsafe intersection here because, in pulling out into a lane of travel 

when she could not see approaching traffic, Ms. Gilland was not a 

"prudent" driver, and therefore King County had no duty to provide a 

reasonably safe road under these circumstances.21 

The legal basis for the trial court's ruling was rejected by this 

Court in Keller v. City of Spokane, supra, which held that the 

characterization of a governmental entity's duty with regard to providing 

reasonably safe roads as stated in Ruff was an incorrect statement of the 

law because it could wrongly be interpreted as "limit[ing] the scope of a 

municipality's duty to only those using the roads and highways in a non

negligent manner." Keller, 146 Wn.2d at 249. Instead, under the correct 

legal standard in highway safety cases, "a municipality owes a duty to all 

persons, whether negligent or fault-free, to build and maintain its 

roadways in a condition that is reasonably safe for ordinary travel." Ibid. 

(emphasis added). Contrary to the trial court's approach in this case, 

Keller requires that the fault of a governmental entity be analyzed 

independent of the fault of other persons that may have been involved in a 

20 VRP 60 (7/27112). 
21 VRP at 60-61 (7/27112). The trial court used this same legal standard and rationale to 
rule that Ms. Gilland's negligence was the sole proximate cause of the collision. See 
VRP at 65, 67 (7/27112). 
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collision?2 Because the rule of law applied by the trial court in granting 

Defendant County's motion for summary judgment is contrary to 

controlling precedent from this Court, Mr. Wuthrich filed an appeal. 

B. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions 
of both this Court and the Court of Appeals that have 
long recognized that a municipality's duty to provide 
reasonably safe roads extends to inherently dangerous 
and unsafe conditions off or along the roadway. 

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that the trial court applied an 

incorrect legal standard in granting summary judgment, 23 but went on to 

compound this error by holding that the scope of a municipality's duty to 

provide reasonably safe roads is limited to conditions existing in the 

roadway itself. Slip Opinion at 6, 7. Because the overgrown brush line 

that blocked the drivers' view of each other at this intersection was not 

part of the roadway itself, the Court of Appeals held that the County did 

not breach its duty to maintain the road in a reasonably safe manner, and 

affirmed the trial court. Slip Opinion at 12. 

After rejecting the trial court's erroneous analysis, the Court of 

Appeals applied an erroneous analysis of its own to affirm the trial court. 

The Court of Appeals' reasoning would limit a municipality's duty to the 

confines of the asphalt, and therefore conflicts with decisions of both this 

Court and the Court of Appeals that have long recognized that a 

municipality's duty to provide reasonably safe roads extends to conditions 

22 
Keller was most recently re-affirmed on this issue by this Court in Lowman v. Wilbur, 

178 Wn.2d 165, 309 P.3d 387 (2014). 
23 

Slip Opinion at p.5, fn.6 (Appendix A). 
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off the roadway. One example is Raybell v. State, 6 Wn. App. 795, 496 

P.2d 559 (1972). In Raybell, the plaintiffs vehicle left the highway and 

tumbled down a cliff. The plaintiff sued the State, claiming that the 

highway was inherently dangerous due to inadequate guardrails next to the 

mountain road where the incident occurred. Expert engineering testimony 

showed that a nearby guardrail would have deflected the vehicle back onto 

the highway at speeds as high as 48 miles per hour, and that the lack of 

guardrails was extremely hazardous. The jury returned a verdict in favor of 

the plaintiff, and the State then appealed. 

The appellate court affirmed the jury's verdict, noting that the duty 

to maintain roads in a reasonably safe condition extends to conditions in or 

along the highway that are inherently dangerous or deceptive. Raybell, 6 

Wn. App. at 802. The court rejected the State's contention "that the duty 

of a municipality ... is confined to situations where there is an obstruction 

or defect in the driving surface of the road." Ibid. (emphasis added). 

Instead, the court emphasized that: 
A roadway may be just as hazardous and deceptive by its design as 
it is by its surface. A roadway may be rendered as hazardous and 
deceptive by the placement of its signs or the improper placements 
of its protective railings as it is by an obstruction in its traveled 
portion. 

Ray bell, 6 Wn. App. at 802 (emphasis added). 

Similarly, in Breivo v. Aberdeen, 15 Wn. App. 520, 550 P .2d 1164 

(1976), a vehicle traveling at an excessive rate of speed went out of 

control, jumped a curb and careened along the sidewalk for 66 feet, 

striking a solid immovable barrier 13 inches off the traveled roadway. 
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The barrier had been erected by the city to protect a light standard. The 

court found the city liable even though the light standard was located off 

the street, ruling that reasonable minds could not differ that "the City was 

palpably negligent in erecting a solid, immovable barrier in such a 

location." Breivo, 15 Wn. App. at 527. 

More recently, in Lowman v. Wilbur, 178 Wn.2d 165, 309 P .3d 

387, 391 (2013), this Court held that municipalities may be held liable for 

placing a utility pole "too close to the roadway." Lowman, 178 Wn.2d at 

1 71. The Court stated, 
Whatever the reasons for a car's departure from a roadway, as a 
matter of policy we reject the notion that a negligently placed 
utility pole cannot be the legal cause of resulting injury. 

Lowman, 178 Wn.2d at 172. 

The Court of Appeals decision also conflicts with cases from both 

this Court and the Court of Appeals holding that a municipality's duty to 

provide reasonably safe roads includes correcting inherently dangerous 

conditions existing at a given location. For example, Owen v. Burlington 

Northern and Santa Fe R.R. Co., supra, had nothing to do with a defect in 

the roadway itself; the case involved dangerous traffic conditions. In 

Owen, this Court held that the City of Tukwila could be held liable for its 

failure to eliminate or correct traffic congestion at a major intersection 

where traffic backed up to such an extent that vehicles were being trapped 

on nearby railroad tracks. 

Likewise, Chen v. City of Seattle, supra, involved a pedestrian who 

was killed while trying to cross a busy downtown street in a crosswalk. In 
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Chen, the city argued that "Chen can prevail only if she shows that a 

particular physical defect in the crosswalk itself rendered the crosswalk 

inherently dangerous or inherently misleading." Chen, 153 Wn. App. at 

900. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument, holding that a totality 

of the circumstances standard governs in determining whether or not a 

road authority breached its duty to provide a reasonably safe road. Based 

on this standard, a plaintiff 

. . . need not prove that the crosswalk contained a particular 
defective physical characteristic rendering the crosswalk inherently 
misleading or inherently dangerous. Rather, a trier of fact may 
infer that the city breached the duty of care it owed ... based on 
the totality of the circumstances. 

Chen, 153 Wn. App. at 901. 

The Court of Appeals' holding that the scope of a municipality's 

duty is limited to eliminating inherently dangerous conditions existing in 

the roadway itself conflicts with the cases discussed above, and would 

dramatically narrow the scope of a municipality's duty. Review by this 

Court is therefore warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(2). 

C. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions 
of both this Court and the Court of Appeals that impose 
a duty on property owners to maintain their premises 
such that adjacent public roads are not rendered unsafe 
for ordinary travel. 

The uncontested evidence before the trial court showed that King 

County owned the land where the overgrown, sight-obstructing wall of 

brush was located.24 Thus, in addition to the County's governmental duty 

24 CP 939-940 (Stevens Dep. at 44-45) ("the blackberry vines in question of the sight 
visibility line were on county property"); CP 1625 {"The topographic survey 
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to maintain its roads in reasonably safe condition, the County had an 

independent duty as the owner of the land where the brush was located. 

Plaintiff Wuthrich moved for partial summary judgment recognizing the 

rule of law that a property owner has a duty to eliminate an unsafe 

condition on land that abuts a street and presents a potential hazard for 

traffic.25 Specifically, Mr. Wuthrich argued that, under well-established 

common law, "a property owner must use and keep his premises in a 

condition so adjacent public ways are not rendered unsafe for ordinary 

travel "26 and that this duty applied to King County as the owner of the 

subject parcel.Z7 

King County argued that Barton v. King County, 18 Wn.2d 573, 

139 P.2d 1019 (1943), and Bradshaw v. City of Seattle, 43 Wn.2d 774, 

264 P.2d 265 (1953), relieve it of any duty to maintain vegetation on 

property it owns adjacent to a road. The County also claimed that the 

cases cited by Mr. Wuthrich were "irrelevant to the case at bar because 

they all involve the duties of private entities who own property next to a 

municipal roadway." Mr. Wuthrich responded that the County's attempt 

to draw a distinction between private and public landowners ignored our 

State's waiver of sovereign immunity (RCW 4.96.010), which makes a 

measurements that I took on April 21, 2011, in combination with the Sheriffs accident 
scene survey, document that the overgrown shrubbery (blackberry vines) depicted in the 
accident scene photos are located on land owned by King County."). 
25 CP 1659-1663; see, e.g., Rev. Tenney, 56 Wn. App. 394, 396, 783 P.2d 632 (1989). 
26 Rev. Tenney, 56 Wn. App. 394, 396, 783 P.2d 632 (1989). 
27 CP 1662. 
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municipality liable for its tortious conduct "to the same extent as if it were 

a private person or corporation."28 

The trial court denied Mr. Wuthrich's motion to establish the duty 

of an owner ofland adjacent to a public road.29 At the same time, the trial 

court granted King County's motion for summary judgment.30 The trial 

court then made findings under CR 54(b) to allow an appeal to proceed on 

the summary judgment order in favor of the County. 31 

Mr. Wuthrich's Notice of Appeal32 included the order denying his 

partial summary judgment motion to establish the duty of a landowner. 33 

However, because the trial court did not certify that order for review under 

CR 54(b )/4 the Court of Appeals directed Mr. Wuthrich to file a motion 

for discretionary review on the landowner duty issue. 35 A Commissioner 

subsequently denied Mr. Wuthrich's Motion for Discretionary Review as 

to the issue of a landowner's duty.36 

Based on the Commissioner's ruling, Mr. Wuthrich was required 

to drop the issue of a landowner's duty from his appeal. The County, 

however, responded to Mr. Wuthrich's Opening Brief by citing Barton 

and Bradshaw to support its argument that "where a street itself is 

28 CP 1662-1663. 
29 CP 1276-1278. 
3° CP 1279-1281. 
31 CP 1424-1433; CP 1475-1479. 
32 See Appendix D. 
33 Appendix E- Court Commissioner's Ruling Denying Review at 2. 
34 Ibid. 
35 Ibid. 
36 Ibid. 
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reasonably safe for public travel, it is not rendered inherently dangerous 

solely because a municipality fails to cut down natural vegetation which 

tends to obstruct the view of an intersection. "37 Mr. Wuthrich objected to 

the County's reliance on Barton and Bradshaw because the County 

opposed discretionary review on the landowner duty issue. Mr. Wuthrich 

asked the Court of Appeals to either disregard the County's argument or 

give him an opportunity to fully brief the issue of a landowner's duty: 
As the record in this case will show, Defendant County 

opposed Appellant's request to have the trial court's ruling[] on 
[the] summary judgment motion[] relating to ... landowner duty 
reviewed as part of this appeal. Yet Defendant County injected 
[this] issue[] into its response brief. See Brief of Respondent at 11-
12 and 40-41. This Court should either disregard those portions of 
Defendant County's brief, given the fact that those issues are not 
presently before the Court, or should agree to resolve [this] issue[] 
as part of this appeal and give Appellant Wuthrich an opportunity 
to submit a brief on this issue[]. Appellant Wuthrich is prepared to 
brief the issue[] of ... landowner duty on appeal if requested to do 
so by this Court. A motion for discretionary review on [the] issue[] 
was argued on April 24, 2013. [The] issue[] [was] discussed in 
Appellant Wuthrich's Motion for Discretionary Review (pp. 12-20) 
and Appellant Wuthrich's Reply in Support of Motion for 
Discretionary Review (pp. 4-10).38 

The Court of Appeals proceeded to rely on Barton and its progeny 

to affirm the trial court,39 ignoring Mr. Wuthrich's arguments that those 

cases are no longer good law after the waiver of sovereign immunity,40

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