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

VI. ARGUMENT 

A. A MUNICIPALITY'S DUTY TO BUILD AND MAINTAIN 
ROADS IN A REASONABLY SM'E MANNER DOES NOT 
REQUIRE IT TO REMOVE OFF-ROAD BUSHES OR 
ADJUST ROAD SIGNS AND MARKINGS TO 
ACCOMMODATE SEASONAL BRUSH GROWTH. 

A municipality has a duty to exercise ordinary care to build and 

maintain its roadways in a reasonably sate manner for the forseeable acts of 

those using the roadways. Keller v. City ofSpokane, 146 Wn.2d 237,252, 

44 P.3d 845 (2002). This general duty to provide reasonably safe roadways 

also includes a specific obligation to eliminate inherently dangerous or 

misleading conditions. Owen v. Burlington N Santa Jte R.R. Co., 153 

Wn.2d 780, 788, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005). The duty to eliminate inherently 

dangerous conditions is only a specific a<>pect of a municipality's general 

duty of care, however, and a plaintiff may show that a municipality has 

breached its duty without showing a failure to eliminate an inherently 

dangerous condition. Slip Op., at 7, citing Chen v. City ofSeattle, 153 Wn. 

App. 890, 900, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009), rev. denied, 169 Wn.2d 1 003(2010). 

The Comi of Appeals framed the issue in this ea<>e as whether King 

County breached a duty to Wuthrich "to either (1) eliminate inherently 

dangerous conditions on the roadways or (2) exercise ordinmy care to build 
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and maintain its roadways in a reasonably safe manner for ordinary travel." 

Slip Op. at 5-6. 1 The court correctly determined that King County is not 

liable to Wuthrich under either theory. 

1. Off-Road Brush docs not constitute an inherently unsafe 
condjtion. 

The Court of Appeals ruled that the brush line at the intersection did 

not create an inherently dangerous condition because such conditions must 

exist in the roadway itself. Slip Op. at 7. This ruling followed longstanding 

precedent ofthis Comi. See Barton v. King County, 18 Wn.2d 573,576-77, 

139 P.2d ~019 (1943) (unusual danger noticed by the books is a danger in 

the highway itself; natural vegetation that obscures the view does not render 

roadway inherently dangerous); Bradshaw v. City ofSeattle, 43 Wn.2d 766, 

774, 264 P.2d 265 (1953) (where street is reasonably safe for public travel it 

is not rendered inherently dangerous solely because a municipality fails to 

cut down natural vegetation which tends to obstruct the view at an 

intersection); Rathbun v. Stevens County, 46 Wn.2d 352, 356, 281 P.2d 853 

(1955) ("where a road itself is reasonably safe for public travel, it is not 

rendered inherently dangerous to travelers exercising reasonable care, solely 

because a municipality fails to remove vege~ation located off of the road, 

1 The Court properly reviewed this case de novo and did not address the reasons for the trial 
court's decisions. Slip Op. at 6. Although Wuthrich discusses lhe trial court's reasoning at 
some length in his petition (see Pctit·ion for Review at 6-8), King County will not respond 
to these arguments as the trial court's reasoning is inclevant at this point in the case. 
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which tends to obstruct the view."). Because the Court of Appeals' ruling 

on tllis issue is consistent with Washington law, there is no basis for review. 

2. A roadway does not become unsafe tor ordimuy travel simply 
because seasonal off-road brush growth obstmcts the view. 

The Court of Appeals also ruled that, under the general duty of 

reasonable care, a municipality is not required to adjust speed limits or 

change road markings to accommodate view restrictions caused by off-road 

bmsh growth. Slip Op. at 9, 12. The court declined to impose such a duty 

in this case because the bmsh line was not part of the roadway itself Jd. at 

10, 12. This ruling docs not conflict with any decision of this Court or the 

Court of Appeals. 

Wuthrich cites a series of Washington cases that he claims imposed 

duties on municipalities to remedy off-road conditions as pmi of their duty of 

care. See Petition for Review, at 8-11; 17-19. None of these decisions, 

however, involved allegations of view obstructions caused by seasonal, off-

road vegetation.2 

This Court has repeatedly made clear- even after adopting the 

2 Raybell v. State, 6 Wn. App. 795, 796, 496 P.2d 559 (1972) (inadequate guardrails); 
Breivo v. City ofAberdeen, 15 Wn. App. 520, 550 P.2d 1164 (1976) (solid immovable 
banier erected by City 13 inches from roadway): Lowman v. iflilhur, 178 Wn.2d 165, 309 
P.3d 387 (2013) (utility pole 4.47 feet from road edge); Chen v. City of Seattle, 153 Wn. 
App. 890, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009) (crosswalk). 
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modern formulation of duty announced in Bergland v. Spokane Count/-

that a muncipality's duty to maintain roadways in a reasonably safe manner 

does not require it to remove roadside vegetation or re-design roadways to 

accommodate off-road vegetation. Barton, 18 Wn.2d at 576-78 (expressly 

declining to apply reasoning of Berglund to off-road vegetation); Bradshaw 

v. City of Seattle, 43 Wn.2d 766, 775, 264 P.2d 265 (1953); Rathbun, 46 

Wn.2d at 356. Sound policy suppmis this result. Requiring municipalities to 

constantly monitor the ebb and flow of sea<>onal vegetation and redesign 

intersections to accommodate such growth would confuse the traveling 

public and place an imponderable burden on government entities. S'ee 

Barton, 18 Wn.2d 573, 576. The Court of Appeals' decision accurately states 

the law and does not conflict with decisions of this Court or other decisions 

of the Court of Appeals. 

B. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY REFUSED TO 
DECIDE THE DUTY OF PROPERTY OWNERS TO 
MAINTAIN BUSHES BECAUSE WUTHRICH FAILED 
TO MOVE TO MODIFY THE COMMISSIONER'S 
RULING DENYING REVIEW OF THAT ISSUE. 

Wuthrich claims that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with 

Washington cases that impose a duty on p1ivate prope11y owners to maintain 

their land so that adjacent public roads are not rendered unsafe for ordinary 

3 4 Wn.2d 309,315, l03 P.2d 355 (1940) (''determination of whether or not a 
municipality has exercised reasonable care in the perfonnance of its duty to maintain its 
pub I ic ways in a reasonably safe condition must in each case necessarily depend upon the 
sunounding circumstances."). 
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travel. Petition for Review, at 11- 17. lie is mistaken. The Court of 

Appeals never decided this issue because Wuthrich failed to preserve it for 

review. See Slip Op. at 8, note 7. 

At the trial court, Wuthrich filed tl:mr motions ior partial summary 

judgment, two of which are relevant here. First, Wuthtich sought a ruling 

that King County was the owner of the private property where the vegetation 

was located. 'Ibis motion was continued and later dismissed as moot. 

Second, Wuthrich sought a ruling that King County had a duty to maintain 

the propetty adjacent to the road so the road would be safe for ordinary 

trave1.4 The hial court denied this motion and then denied Wuthtich's 

motion for reconsideration. Id 

Wuthtich included this second order denying partial summary 

judgment in his notice of appeal from the trial court's dismissal of King 

County from this case. fd But the trial court did not make CR 54(b) 

findings regarding this order or certify it for review under RAP 2.3(b)(4). 

The Court of Appeals determined the order wa<> not appealable as a matter of 

right, converted the notice of appeal to a notice of discretionary review, and 

directed Wuthtieh to file a motion for discretionmy review. Ruling Denying 

Review, at 2. 

Wuthrich filed a motion for discretionary review, and the Court of 

4 S'ee Ruling Denying Review, at 2 (attached to Petition for Review as Appendix E). 
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Appeals commissioner denied the motion. The commissioner ruled that the 

trial court's denial of partial summary judgment did not amount to obvious 

error under RAP 2.3(b)(1 ). Ruling Denying Review, at 4. 

Wutluich complains that because of the commissioner's ruling, he 

was "required to drop the issue of a landO\vncr's duty from his appeal." 

Petition for Review, at 13. This is false. Under RAP 17.7, a person may 

object to a commissioner's ruling, but "only by a motion to modify the ruling 

directed to the judges of the court served by the commissioner or clerk." If a 

timely motion to modify is made, it is heard and decided by the judges. But 

in the absence of a motion to modify, the ruling stands. 5 

Wuthrich had every opportunity to present the denial of his motion 

for partial summary judgment to the panel ofthe Court of Appeals in this 

case. Ile elected not to do so. Thus, the commissioner's ruling declining 

review of this issue is final, and the Court of Appeals properly refused to 

consider it. This Court should do the same and disregard Wutluich's 

arguments at pages 11 to 17 of his Petition. 

C. IF REVIEW IS GRANTED, THIS COURT SHOULD 
AFFIRM BECAUSE KING COUNTY DID NOT BREACH 
ITS DUTY TO PROVIDE A REASONABLY SAFE 
ROADWAY AND ITS ACTIONS WERE NOT THE 
LEGAL CAUSE OR CAUSE IN :FACT OF WUTHRICH'S 
INJURIES. 

5 See 3 K. Tegland, Wash. Practice, Rules Practice, RAP 17.7, p. 445 (ih Ed. 2011). 
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Should the Court grant review in this case, King County asks it to 

affirm the Court of Appeals' decision because it accurately reflects 

Washington law. King County also asks the Court, pursuant to RAP 1 3.4(d), 

to affinn for t\vo alternative reasons bliefed below but not relied on by the 

Corni of Appeals: (1) King County met its duty of care to provide a 

reasonably safe roadway, and (2) King County's actions or inactions did not 

cause this accident. 

1. King County met its duty of care. 

King County met its duty to provide a roadway reasonably safe for 

ordinary travel in this case as a matter of law. King County followed all 

binding statutes, ordinances and regulations regarding the design and 

maintenance of the intersection. County Road Design Standards require an 

entering sight line of 685 feet of visibility, measured 10 feet back trom the 

edge ofthe traveled way, regardless of the placement a stop bar. CP 177-

191. The County exceeded this standard by providing over 730 feet of 

unobstructed visibility, measured ten feet back from the edge of the traveled 

way. ld. As shown in Figure 1, above, this sightline- which was available 

to Off:icer Gilland on the day of the accident- is completely unobstructed 

by the power pole and bushes. CP 222-234. 

Following King County's re-design of the intersection in 2005, the 

intersection proved remarkably sate. Only one dissimilar accident occurred 
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in this intersection between the 2005 re-design and Wuthrich's accident, 

although some 15 to 20 million cars passed through the intersection. CP 

192-221. The County had no notice that the intersection was not safe, and 

plaintiffs expert, Mr. Stevens, concedes that the County received no notice 

of an inherently dangerous condition. CP 298. 

2. King County's actions did not cause Wuthrich's injury. 

Additionally, Wuthrich has failed to show as a matter of law that 

King County's actions or omissions were the cause his injuries. Even if he 

could show breach of duty, he has failed to produce sufficient evidence on 

proximate cause. Prattv. Thomas, 80Wn.2d 117,119,491 P.2d 1285 

(1971). 

Logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent dictate that 

King County should not be the legal cause of tllis accident. Drivers may 

often encounter intersections where their view could be partially obscured 

by a dangling branch or seasonal shrubbery. The law requires them to stop 

at a stop sign or stop bar, and move ahead and then stop again, regardless of 

how many times it takes, to confim1 the roadway is clear of on-coming 

motorists before proceeding into an interscction.6 This is the "clear stretch 

of road doctrine". See Sanders v. Crimmins, 63 Wn.2d 702, 706, 388 P.2d 

913 (1964). 

6 RCW 46.61.190(2); CP 243, 247, 258, 281 and 283. 
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From a distance of ten feet behind the traveled road in this case, all 

drivers, including Gilland, had 730 feet of unobstructed visibility to their 

left. It was not forseeable by King County that drivers would not avail 

themselves of this unobstructed sight line. 

King County should not be deemed the legal cause of plaintiffs 

injuries when it had no control over Officer Gilland's possible failure to 

pull forward to view traffic or her absolute failure to look left again to 

make sure the intersection was clear before entering, after waiting several 

seconds for cars to pass from her right. 7 See e.g Klein v. City of Seattle, 

41 Wn. App. 636, 705 P .2d 806 (1985). 

Moreover, Wuthrich cannot show that King County was a cause in 

fact of his injuries. A plaintiffs showing of cause in fact must be based on 

more than mere conjecture or speculation. Ruff v. King County, 125 

Wn.2d 697, 707, 887 P.2d 886 (1995). "The cause of an accident may be 

said to be speculative when, from a consideration of all the facts, it is as 

likely that it happened from one cause as another." Moore v. Hagge, 158 

Wn. App 137, 148, 241 P.3d 787 (2010). 

Officer Gilland confirms that she does not know where she 

stopped, she does not know how far down Avondale she could sec when 

she did stop, and she does not know if the bushes or pole obstructed her 

7 CP 260-61. No witness can testify where Officer Gilland stopped. Therefore, it is 
unknown if she availed herself of the unobstructed sight line. 
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view. CP 251,256,258,261-62. Wuthrich's accident reconstructionist, 

Mr. Olson, could not opine that the bushes or pole obstructed Officer 

Gilland's view of plaintiff: or where plaintiff was on the road when Officer 

Gilland looked left, or where he was when she initiated her tum. CP 992, 

994, 998 and 1000. Mr. Olson agreed there are two other possible causes 

of the accident that had nothing to do with King County: human error in 

detecting plaintiff on the roadway, and Officer Gilland's failure to look 

left again before initiating her tum. CP 285. 

Wuthrich's other expert, Mr. Stevens, also gave no opinion that the 

bushes or pole obstructed Officer Gilland's view, that the intersection was 

inherently dangerous to Officer Gilland on June 20, 2008, or that his 

suggested sightline, which cannot be found in any known design manual, 

would have prevented this accident. 8 

Given these evidentiary infirmities, Wuthrich cannot show that 

King County was a cause in fact of his injuries. A jury should not be 

allowed to speculate how this accident happened.9 Wuthrich cannot 

demonstrate legal or factual causation in tllis case as a matter oflaw. 

8 See Ruff, 125 Wn.2d at 706-707 (coUit refuses to speculate that lack of guardrail was 
negligence where expert could not say that guardrail would have prevented injury). 

9 See e.g. Ciardner v. Seymour, 27 Wn.2d 802,809, 180 P.2d 564 (1947) (holding a jury 
will not be permitted to ~:onjc~:lure how the a~:cidenl happened if there is nothing more 
than two or more conjectural theories under one or more of which a defendant would be 
liable). 
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VII. CONCLUSION 

King County asks the Court to deny Wuthrich's Petition for Review 

because the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision does not conflict with 

any decision of this Court or the Comt of Appeals. Should the Court grant 

review, however, King County asks the Court, pursuant to its de novo review 

and under RAP 13 .4( d), to affim1 on two additional grounds King County 

raised at the Court of Appeals: King County did not breach its duty of care 

in this case, and Wuthrich cannot demonstrate that King County's acts were 

the proximate cause ofhis injuries.